
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING           

OF THE TOWNSHIP OF JACKSON 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

MARCH 1, 2006 

         
The March 1, 2006 Jackson Township Board of Adjustment meeting was called to order at 7:38 p.m. with a 
salute to the flag by all present.   Attorney Mark Kitrick read the Open Public Meetings Act Statement. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Peter Clute, V. Chair  Kevin Sullivan 

Larry Hartman   Scott Weinstein, Sec’y. 
Peter Maher   Donna Hopkins, Alt. #1 
Scott Najarian   Howard Falkowitz, Alt. #2 

Michael Kelly, Chairperson  
    

ABSENT:  No board member was absent 
      
ALSO PRESENT: Richard Megill, Director of Planning and Zoning 
   Mark Kitrick, King, Kitrick, & Jackson LLC  
   Albert Yodakis, T&M Associates 
   Leah Furey, Ragan Design Group 
   Steven McCrystal, McCrystal Reporting 
 
 

MEMORIALIZATION OF RESOLUTIONS: 
 

2006-06–Keith & Alexandra Preis – Block 66.09, Lot 47.38 – Motion to approve by Clute/Weinstein.  
YES:  Clute,  Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein & Kelly.  VARIANCE GRANTED 

 

2006-07 –  Astrid De La Cruz – Block 130.01, Lot 16.01 – Motion to approve Clute/Weinstein.  YES:  
Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein & Kelly. VARIANCE GRANTED 
 
2006-08 – Ronald & Victoria Kushnir -  Block 9.02, Lot 6 – Motion to approve by Clute/Weinstein.   YES:   
Clute,  Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, & Kelly.  VARIANCE GRANTED 
 
2006-09 – Mark Colella  – Block 5.01, Lot 1 – Motion to approve by Clute/Weinstein.   YES:   Clute, 
Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, & Kelly.  VARIANCE GRANTED 

 

2006-10 – Edward & Marcy Hyer – Block 111, Lot 12.01 & 12.02 – Motion to approve by 
Clute/Weinstein.   YES:   Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, & Kelly.  BULK AND 

USE VARIANCES GRANTED 

 
2006-11 – County Line Construction – Block 68, Lot 13.01 & 13.02 – Motion to approve by 
Clute/Weinstein. YES:   Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, & Kelly.  TIME 

EXTENSION GRANTED 

 

2006-12 – James Kapandais – Block 155, Lot 21 – Motion to approve by Clute/Weinstein. YES:   Clute, 
Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, & Kelly.  USE VARIANCE GRANTED 

 
Motion to approve the minutes of the February 1, 2006 meeting by CLUTE/Weinstein.  YES:  Clute, 
Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, and Kelly. 

 

Motion to approve the voucher for the recording secretary by NAJARIAN/Sullivan. YES: Clute, 
Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein and Kelly. 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 

Mr. Kelly announced application #10 and #11 would be heard first this evening. 
 
 
Mr. Megill, Zoning Officer, Albert Yodakis of T&M Associates, and Leah Furey of Ragan Design Group 
were sworn by Steven McCrystal.  
 

APPLICATIONS: 

 

2. APPLICANT:  K. HOVNANIAN AT JACKSON   (USE VARIANCE #2533) 

 BLOCK:   111.03  LOT:  1   ZONE:   HC 

 LOCATION:  N. COUNTY LINE ROAD/SECTION 3-SOUTH KNOLLS 

 

Applicant is seeking a use variance for South Knolls, Section 3 – Proposed 53 age-restricted lots, RV 
parking, and passive recreation, which is not permitted in the Highway Commercial zone.   
 
Ray Shea, attorney for the applicant, introduced Tim Lurie of D.W. Smith and Tom Bovino of Leigh 
Realty, engineer and applicant respectively.  Both men were sworn.  This application is for a use variance 
only.  The site plan application is deferred to the future.  The Board is to consider the use variance to allow 
construction of 53 additional active adult homes in the Highway Commercial Zone as part of the existing 
South Knolls planned retirement community.  Mr. Shea said testimony would be given to show the positive 
and negative criteria.  He referred to two reports, one by T&M Associates dated 2-28-06 and one by Ragan 
Design Group dated 2-26-06.   
 
Mr. Lurie’s credentials were accepted; he is Director of Engineering at his firm.  Mr. Lurie feels this is an 
appropriate site to extend the existing active adult community.  Two exhibits were marked A-1 and A-2.   



Page 2– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
A-1 is a composite development plan; sheet 4 of 4 of the plans, and A-2 is a composite development plan 
resulting from meetings between residents and the developer.  A-2 was submitted to the Board 
professionals only, not the Board members.  Mr. Lurie referred to exhibit A-1 showing 53 lots, RV parking 
and a 12,900 square foot passive recreation area.  A 100’ buffer from County Line Road with a 10’ 
screening berm is proposed.  Water and sewer service will be provided.  
 
Exhibit A-2 shows the RV parking relocated to the western corner of the property and an increased passive 
recreation area.  The 53 lots is a reduction from the previous application of 64 lots.  The original approval 
for South Knolls retirement community was for 950 lots.  The 53 units proposed here will bring the total to 
well below that figure.  This project is complementary to the existing project.   
 
Mr. Lurie accepted all recommendations in the T&M report, except #6 pertaining to sidewalks.  The 
applicant wishes to maintain sidewalks only on one side of the street, as in the existing South Knolls 
Project.   
 
Mr. Shea reviewed the February 27, 2006 Ragan review letter, and agreed to P2-P5 observations and 
comments for the Board’s consideration.  He directed attention to P4, DEP approvals, and agreed regarding 
the fence around the basin.  Mr. Lurie said this is expected to be a dry basin, and any decision on the 
fencing would be deferred to the site plan application.  Mr. Yodakis had no issues to prevent the storm 
water basin in that area.   

 
Mr. Shea said the 53 homes would bring the total units for South Knolls to 883 units, and he feels the 
existing recreation facility and parking would remain adequate.  Regarding Item G, affordable housing, Mr. 
Shea said he would provide documentation to Leah Furey that Section 3 & 4 is included in the previous 
number of units required.   
 
Mr. Shea said the negative criteria are satisfied with a Planned Retirement Community use versus a 
Highway Commercial use because overall traffic, impervious coverage, noise, and general environmental 
impact is reduced.  He said no negative criteria are increased with the PRC use.   
 
Mr. Kitrick asked if this application is strictly for the use variance, and Mr. Shea said yes; the site plan 
application would be made separately.  Mr. Yodakis and Ms. Furey said any outstanding issues would be 
addressed at site plan.   
 

PUBLIC SESSION OPENED 

 
Michael Kafton, 67 N. Lakeside Avenue and member of the Jackson Township Committee, addressed the 
Board, stating this Board serves the best interest of Jackson Township and its residents.  He has received 
calls regarding this application, and has reviewed it.  He is not here to influence the Board’s decision in any 
way.  While he notes the property is zoned commercial, a great benefit and that ratables help, this piece is 
at the entrance to the existing planned retirement community.  A commercial use here may impact the life 
of the residents in South Knolls.  A strip mall would generate approximately $50,000 in tax revenue to the 
town, while the 53 homes would add no children to the school system and generate taxes of approximately 
$300,000 to the town.  This section will flow nicely from one section to the next.  The shrubbery berm 
would look nice along County Line Road. 
 
Marsha Greenblum, 78 Marlow Drive, sworn.  She is in favor of the land use change.  She questioned a 
highway commercial use here with the number of other highway commercial lots in the area, can this one 
survive?  Jackson is growing, and she said the police have better things to do than direct traffic for a 
commercial use.  She will enjoy a passive recreation area.  Jackson Township will benefit from the tax 
revenue.  She said this is a win-win situation. 

 
Jerry Pims, 18 Moss Lane, sworn.  On an emotional note, he has invested and believes in this community.  
A commercial use would add to the congestion, and is not desirable.  He feels there is a benefit to change 
the land use. 
 
Lorraine Banfi, 27 Banbury Lane, sworn.  She stated the community overwhelmingly wants this site to be 
residential.  She said it is a win-win situation and the passive recreation is desirable.   
 

PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Mr. Kelly asked for Board members’ comments. 

 
Mr. Maher said there is no doubt the people want the residential use.  With the reduction in the number of 
lots originally asked for, is the recreation space larger?  Mr. Lurie said it is 30,000 square feet.  Mr. Maher 
asked about providing space for visiting grandchildren, such as a tot lot and basketball facilities.  Mr. Lurie 
said they asked the community for input on the design, and they liked the proposed plan.  Mr. Shea 
interjected ¾ of an acre is devoted to recreation, based on input from the community, and this may change.  
Mr. Maher asked if they could do more, perhaps 1 ½ -2 acres.  He said once the space is gone, it’s gone.   
 
Mr. Kelly said they are trying to resolve issues with the homeowners association; a meeting may be 
beneficial.  There should be ground rules and things the developer should give in return.  Mr. Shea said it’s 
not how much [land is recreation]; it’s how it’s used.   
 
Mr. Weinstein said he likes the changes made to the application.  He objected to the vulgarity directed at 
him when he voted no for the previous application.  
 
Mr. Najarian asked if the number of homes could be further reduced to 50, eliminating the lots near the 
road.  Mr. Shea said no, the bottom line is 53 homes.   



Page 3– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
Mr. Bovino, manager for the landowner, stated they worked with the residents and as a result, he feels they 
are satisfied with the recreation area presented. 
 

PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 
Motion to approve the use variance by NAJARIAN/Weinstein.  YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, 
Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, and Kelly. 

 

11.       APPLICANT:  JACKSON DEVELOPMENT CO LLC (USE VARIANCE #2517) 

BLOCK: 111.03  LOT:  105, 107  ZONE:  HC/PRC 

LOCATION:      N. COUNTY LINE ROAD/SO. KNOLLS SECTION 4 

 

Applicant seeks a use variance to construct a 1,175 square foot restaurant that also manufactures pasta, a 
950 square foot retail section and 5,375 square foot warehouse in the HC/PRC zone.  The site does not 
front on a public street or right-of-way.   

 

This application has the same witnesses as the previous application:  Timothy Lurie, Director of 
Engineering for D.W. Smith Associates, and Tom Bovino representing Leigh Realty.  Ray Shea, Esq. 
represented the applicant.  The professionals were sworn for this application and their credentials accepted.  
Mr. Shea stated this site is located in the Highway Commercial zone, and the uses are permitted except 
some features in the pasta restaurant with warehousing.  The applicant proposes two restaurants in the 
Highway Commercial zone:  a combined deli/warehouse and a Charlie Brown’s restaurant.  This 
application is for the use variance only; it does not conform to the provisions of the HC zone.   
 
Referring to the January 4, 2006 Ragan letter and the January 9, 2006 T&M letter, Mr. Shea said the letters 
are factual and accurate.  The buildings shown on the plans are conceptual in nature.  A small portion of 
one lot is in the Planned Retirement Community (PRC) zone.  Three uses are proposed; two are permitted 
but the warehouse is not.   
 
Ms. Furey gave an overview of the proposal.  The pasta manufacturing company is moving to Jackson from 
Middlesex.  It will be nice to have a restaurant where one can see how pasta is made.  The use is not 
permitted and she said she needs to find out the intensity of the use.  Mr. Shea introduced Dominic 
Discenza, owner of L&D Sapore Cheese & Ravioli Company.  He wrote a letter dated January 12, 2006 
that basically said the products are sent three times a week in small trucks to restaurants.  It is not a noisy 
operation and there are fourteen employees.  He offered to arrange a visit for Board members to his current 
site in Middlesex.  Ms. Furey said there are two aspects of the use variance – the non-permitted use and that 
part of the site is in a residential zone.  Mr. Shea agreed, asking for the right to come back for site plan 
approval with approval of the use variance tonight. 
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward; PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 
Motion to approve the use variance by NAJARIAN/Weinstein. YES:  Clute, Hartman, Najarian, 
Sullivan, Weinstein, and Kelly.   ABSTAINED:  Maher 
 

Recess:  8:37 p.m.  Reconvene:  8:50 p.m. 

 

Donna Hopkins left the meeting. 

 

1. APPLICANT:  GERONIMO & ROWENA RABO (VARIANCE #2515) 

BLOCK:  135.07 LOT:  8  ZONE:  R-3 

LOCATION:  16 SCARBOROUGH DRIVE 

 

Applicant seeks a variance to construct an inground pool 7’ from the side property line where 20’ is 
required.  Mr. Yodakis asked if there would be any regrading.  Ms. Rabo stated the lot slopes down and 
there would be minor regrading.   
 

PUBLIC SESSION OPENED 

 

Joe Puskas, 14 Scarborough Drive, sworn.  He is concerned the pool would be too close to his fence and 
wants more buffers.  With the pool and concrete, there is no privacy as it is.  Mr. Najarian asked the 
engineer about the pool and concrete.  Mr. Rabo said the concrete is not to be wider; he already has a patio.  
Mr. Kelly asked if the pool could be moved.  Mr. Rabo said this is a corner lot, and if he moved the pool, it 
would be more on top of the patio.  Mr. Kelly said the Board looks at the hardship and the neighbors, and 
tries to work it out.  He asked why the pool couldn’t be moved a few feet.  Mr. Rabo said he could modify 
the patio closer to the house; he just wants a minimal amount of concrete around the pool.  Mr. Kelly asked 
about buffering the pool from the neighbor with arbovitaes or the like to block the view and sound.  Mr. 
Puskas said he is concerned about the noise from the filter.  Mr. Megill commented the filter and heater 
also have to meet the setbacks.  Mr. Rabo said they could be on the other side of the pool.  Mr. Kelly asked 
if a 12’ setback would be ok.  Mr. Puskas said he has no privacy and he is concerned about grading.  Mr. 
Megill stated approved grading plans are required before constructing the pool.   
 

PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Motion to approve by CLUTE, with a 12’ setback and equipment on the opposite side of the 

pool/seconded by Weinstein.  YES: Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, and Kelly.    
 

2. APPLICANT:  VINCENT & LUCY SQUEO (VARIANCE #2519) 

BLOCK:  135.19 LOT:  3  ZONE:  R-3 

LOCATION:  4 GLENROTHES COURT 

 



Page 4– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
Vincent & Lucy Squeo sworn.   Applicant seeks a variance to construct an 18’ x 17’ sunroom on a new 
deck addition to the rear of their dwelling where a 50’ rear setback is required and 25’ is proposed.  The 
engineer and Board had no comments.   
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward;  PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Motion to approve by NAJARIAN/Clute. YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, 
and Kelly.  
 

3. APPLICANT:  SUSAN MATTEI (VARIANCE #2521) 

BLOCK:  78.04  LOT:  64  ZONE:  R-9 

LOCATION:  4 GEORGIAN BOULEVARD 

 

Susan Mattei sworn.  She seeks a variance to construct a 10’ x 12’ shed 2’ from the side property lines 
where 10’ is required and a 6’ solid fence in the front yard of this corner lot.  The shed is a replacement.  
Mr. Kelly asked why 2’?  Ms. Mattei stated there is a driveway through the whole property, and she would 
need a tree permit.  Mr. Yodakis stated the fence is in the sight triangle by township standards, but not by 
county standards, so the location is ok.   
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward;  PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Motion to approve by CLUTE/Hartman. YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein, 
and Kelly.  

 

4. APPLICANT:  TLC LEARNING CENTER (P/F SITE PLAN #630 FOR COND’L USE) 

BLOCK:  145.01 LOT:  15.02  ZONE:  HC 
LOCATION:  339 JACKSON MILLS ROAD 

 

Peter Maher stepped down.  This application was continued from January 18, 2006.  The applicant is 
seeking preliminary and final site plan approval for a childcare facility, a conditional use variance and bulk 
variances.  Ray Shea represented the applicant.  He referred to the February 28, 2006 T&M letter and the 
February 27, 2006 Ragan review letter. Applicant Catherine Reid and William Peck of Tom Ertle 
Associates were previously sworn. Mr. Peck addressed the adequacy of the parking, referring to new 
exhibit A-3.  By moving the septic to the rear, they could now provide 27 spaces, nearly double the amount 
required.  The driveways were changed but the one way circulation remains.   
 
Ms Furey said there is a 20’ one-way driveway in front of the building with a drop off zone.  If the 
applicant shifts the building back 4’, the front drive could be 24’ instead.  Mr. Peck stated he would not 
move the building, but he would achieve the 4’ through other adjustments to the plan.  Ms. Furey asked if 
future adjoining commercial lots are developed, would the applicant be open to dialogue on cross access?  
Mr. Shea so stipulated, inviting it to be a condition of any resolution of approval.  Mr. Peck noted if the 
MUA asked them to sewer the site that would kill the project.  Ms. Furey referred to #9 architectural 
elevations, and asked for enhancements.  Mr. Shea agreed.  Ms. Furey stated on the freestanding sign, 
telephone numbers are not allowed per the ordinance, and asked it be removed.  She also asked if the 
applicant would comply with the affordable housing requirements, and Mr. Shea so stipulated.  Mr. Peck 
asked for the variance for parking setback to a residential use, and said the ADA requirements would be 
met.  Ms. Furey asked that the far spaces near the driveway be designated for employees, and it was agreed.  
Mr. Shea stated they had no objection to the T&M report.  Mr. Yodakis had parking concerns with 14 
employees.  Ms. Reid said there are 12 employees and their hours are staggered.  Mr. Yodakis asked how 
many children would attend, and Ms. Reid said the capacity is 100.  When Mr. Yodakis questioned if she 
felt the parking was sufficient, Ms. Reid replied it is very, very good.  She added this site would be very 
nicely done.  Mr. Yodakis still had concerns with the morning drop-off of children.   
 
There were no board comments.  Ms. Furey said she would recommend to the Township Committee the 
parking requirements in the ordinance be revisited.  Mr. Kelly said he was very pleased with the increased 
parking versus the original application.  He noted the stalls would be 9’ x 18’.   
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward; PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Motion to approve by CLUTE/Hartman. YES:  Clute, Hartman, Falkowitz, Najarian, Sullivan, 
Weinstein, and Kelly.  
 

5. APPLICANT:  DR. JEFF ELBAUM (P/F SITE PLAN #633) 
 BLOCK:  75.01  LOT:  13.01  ZONE:  R-3 
LOCATION: BREWERS BRIDGE ROAD 

 

 This application is for preliminary and final site plan approval to construct a 6,292 square foot professional 
office building.  A use variance was received in July, 2005.  The applicant has reduced the size of the office 
building , and the number of stories from two to one, at the Board’s request.  Ray Shea represented the 
applicant, and said they are in receipt of the February 22, 2006 T&M letter and the February 28, 2006 
Ragan review letter.  Dr. Jeffrey Elbaum, applicant, and William Stevens, Property Development Services, 
were sworn and credentials accepted.   
 
Mr. Stevens gave an overview of the site plan, stating this is a site plan application with bulk variances 
required, three of which were granted as existing conditions at use variance approval.  He said this site 
would be used as a medical/professional office building south of County Line Road, on one acre of 
property located in the R-3 zone.  The site is unusually long and narrow.  The site plan, sheet 1 of 6, was 
marked Exhibit A-1, showing the location of the site.  Sheet 2 of 6, marked A-32, shows the site plan of the 
property.  This is a one story medical office building approximately 6,000 square feet in size with parking 
to the rear of the property.  The property to the north is a veterinary office, to the rear of the site is an  



Page 5– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
apartment complex, and the property to the south is a residential use.  Referring to the T& M letter of 
February 22, the existing condition variances were already granted, but three other bulk variances are 
required.  The first is for front yard setback due to the unusual shape of the property with its exceptional 
narrowness.  The existing frame dwelling is to be removed and this site will maintain the current front yard 
setback similar to the veterinary office.  A variance is needed for side yard setback due to the narrowness of 
the lot.  The third variance is needed for minimum landscape buffer requirements to the residential use next 
door.  No loading zone is needed for delivery trucks.  Garbage trucks will be able to access the dumpster in 
the rear.  The report from the fire official will be complied with.  Regarding signage, the Ragan review 
letter refers to the size of the sign – no wall sign will be needed and the ground sign will be smaller but 
illuminated.  Ms. Furey said for that size sign, it could be 25’ from the right of way, and the applicant 
agreed.  A cross access agreement was agreed to.  Mr. Shea said the applicant was in agreement with the 
T&M February 22 letter and any approval would be subject to architectural design approval of the Planner.  
Ms. Furey asked about sewer service, and Mr. Shea said it was not available there, but the applicant would 
comply if sewer became available.  Mr. Stevens said the septic system would be in the front.  Mr. Najarian 
asked what size tank and was told 1,500 gallons.  Mr. Falkowitz had a question about medical waste since 
this would be a doctor’s office.  Dr. Elbaum stated there would be medical waste handled, and a company 
comes as needed to remove it.  Nothing would be stored outside.  Mr. Najarian asked how sample pills are 
disposed of.  Dr. Elbaum said they did not have any, as this is an oral surgeon’s office.   
 

PUBLIC SESSION OPENED 

 

Janet Cunningham, 683 Brewers Bridge Road, sworn.  She owns the property but does not live there; it is 
diagonally across from the subject property.  She has a serious concern with traffic and the 35 spaces in the 
parking lot.  With a high volume of patients and considerable traffic going to County Line Road, a left-
hand turn into this facility could cause traffic to back up.  There is no shoulder to use and drivers may go 
onto her property to go around the cars making left-hand turns.  This is a very large building to be built on a 
narrow property; it is unsightly and may contribute to a decrease in her property value.  She asked about 
access to the apartments to the rear, and was told this is not an issue as there will be no access.  Mr. 
Najarian asked how many doctors would practice in the building and was told one doctor and five staff 
members, with two more tenants in the building.  Mr. Najarian agreed there would be little traffic.  Mr. 
Falkowitz said if the doctor would lease additional space, that will add to the traffic concerns.  Mr. Shea 
said the landlord will have to make a judgment call and the marketplace determines his decision.  Mr. 
Najarian questioned the one driveway in and out; he thought this would have a circular traffic pattern.  Mr. 
Najarian asked about site lighting, and Mr. Stevens testified there would be no spillage of light on the 
residential property to the south.   
 
Robert Staples, 248 Delaware Trail, corner of Brewers Bridge Road, sworn.  He has a concern for his 
property that looks over this site.  The single-lane driveway could be an issue.  Mr. Staples drives for a 
medical transport company.  He said cars race on Brewers Bridge Road and this is a recipe for disaster.  
One more commercial lot encroaches on a residential use.  Three tenants will increase traffic; this is a big 
box in a little area and they are trying to force something that doesn’t fit.  He asked the Board to ask the 
applicant to reconsider.  The jughandle seems to demarcate the business from the residential uses.  He has 
concerns with safety, visual impact, traffic and the driveway.  They are putting this in a bad place.  Mr. 
Shea responded to the driveway concern, stating that Mr. Stevens designed it with good engineering 
practices for two, one-way lanes in mind.   Mr. Kelly asked Mr. Staples if the lighting would affect him.  
Mr. Staples said the rear bedroom windows face the front and side of the proposed building.  Mr. Kelly 
asked him if the proposed lighting would affect him more than a street light would.  Mr. Stevens answered 
no, and referred to the lighting plan, marked Exhibit A-3.  He pointed out the security lights, stating they 
will not use them as they don’t think they need them; they will just use the sign light, about 30 square feet.  
Mr. Kelly spoke of the objections for traffic concerns.  He does not feel the location of the business is a 
hazard.  The whole street is hazardous, but the Board asked for concessions that have been given.  The 
concerns of the lighting have been addressed.  He wants to do the right thing for the residents and the town.  
Mr. Kelly said he used to live in that area.  Mr. Staples said he does not want to cause a problem for the 
Doctor, he just wants safety.  Mr. Weinstein asked since Dr. Elbaum’s business is already established, can 
the sign be unlit at 9:00 p.m.?  Mr. Shea agreed to the signage being shut off at 9:00 p.m. 
 
John Sondrup, 684 Brewers Bridge Road, sworn.  He lives next door to the proposed site.  He had two 
pages of frustrating comments in July.  This is a dangerous road regardless of what goes there.  He asked 
for a buffer on the site’s southern boundary.  Mr. Stevens said they will maintain the wooded portion on 
that property line for the length of the property and will place a fence and shrubbery along the adjacent 
property line.  Mr. Najarian announced all issues were addressed, and asked for ground-marked arrows 
showing in or out.   
 
Motion to approve by NAJARIAN/Weinstein.  YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, 
Weinstein, and Kelly. 
 

6. APPLICANT:  MARK PROPERTIES (USE AND BULK VARIANCE #2524) 

BLOCK:  13.01  LOT:  6  ZONE:  PM-1 

LOCATION:  RIDGEWAY BOULEVARD 

 

Applicant seeks a use and bulk variances to construct a single-family dwelling in the PM-1 zone.  The bulk 
variance requested is for front yard setback where 100’ is required and 60.4’ is proposed.  Ray Shea 
represented the applicant.  William Stevens of Property Development Services was sworn and his 
credentials accepted.  He stated this property is commercially zoned in the Pinelands, although it is a 
largely residential area.  Sheet 1 of 1 was marked Exhibit A-1.  The site is located at Ridgeway Boulevard 
and Route 547, and the lot is divided with Manchester Township.  An aerial photo was marked Exhibit A-
2; it showed the surrounding residential uses.  The two commercial buildings nearby serve the residential 
community in Manchester.  Future development on two large tracts nearby is proposed residential. There 
are wetlands in the area, and the Pinelands Certificate of Filing states a 175’ buffer is required from the 
wetlands to any development.  Mr. Stevens pointed out the area on the variance sketch.  Secondly, a 300’  



Page 6– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
buffer is required for septic.  This leaves a very small area for the septic, so the building box left over 
serves a single family dwelling better than a commercial use.  Ms. Furey said sidewalks are not necessary 
here and Mr. Shea agreed.  Mr. Yodakis commented the sight distance is problematic with the driveway, 
and the lot needs clearing along the front.  The applicant agreed.   
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward; PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 
Motion to approve by CLUTE/Maher.  YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein and 
Kelly. 
 

7. APPLICANT:  RICHARD KILLION (VARIANCE #2526) 

BLOCK:  98.04  LOT:  6  ZONE:  R-3 

LOCATION:  424 DIAMOND ROAD 

 

Richard Killion sworn.  He seeks various bulk variances to rebuild his home that suffered a fire in the R-3 
zone.  Ms. Furey noted the lot size is .459 acre in the R-3 zone.  This lot size is similar to surrounding 
properties, and the applicant cannot purchase any property to make it more conforming.  Her February 28 
report outlines the variances needed.  The house will have a new footprint, although it is slightly different 
and it does not exacerbate the setbacks required. Public water is not available here.  The applicant agreed to 
the technical comments listed in the T&M letter.  Mr. Megill commented the underground piping doesn’t 
go anywhere; it was required years ago.   
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward; PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 
Motion to approve by CLUTE/Weinstein.  YES:  Clute, Hartman, Maher, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein 
and Kelly. 
 

8. APPLICANT:  MAD SCIENCE OF CENTRAL JERSEY LLC (USE VARIANCE #2528; 

MINOR SITE PLAN #634) 

BLOCK:  85  LOT:  17.04  ZONE:  NC 

LOCATION:  186 W. VETERANS HIGHWAY 

 

Applicant seeks minor site plan approval with use variance to renovate an existing barn for office and 
warehouse use and maintain the existing residence in the Neighborhood Commercial Zone.  Peter Maher 
stepped down for this application.  Denis Kelly, Esq. of Levin Shea & Pfeffer represented the applicant.  
Donna Dunn of 3D Engineering was sworn and her credentials accepted.  Kenneth Kahn, owner,  17 
Danielle Court, sworn.  Denis Kelly gave an overview of the proposal, stating the property is in the NC 
zone and a use variance is required for two principal uses on the property.  Ms. Dunn said the existing 
home is 37’ from the right of way.  There is a 10’ access drive to a gravel area between two buildings.  The 
site is served by well and septic.  Eventually, the residential dwelling will be abandoned, and the owner 
plans to renovate the other building for warehouse and office space.  Parking is provided for 7 vehicles with 
one handicap space on a gravel surface.  Mr. Kelly commented the applicant wishes to keep the house on 
the property for 36 months; when asked why, Mr. Kelly said for economic reasons.  Mr. Najarian asked 
that it not be rented and the applicant agreed.  Ms. Furey noted with the dwelling is not used, the accessory 
use seems to be transitional, similar to other previous applications.  Mr. Kahn stated the chicken coop 
would be knocked down and a building constructed.  He agreed to the conditions in the T&M report, 
stating he is trying to enhance the property but keep his costs low.  He stated no one comes to and from the 
site; there are 6 employees total, and occasionally a UPS truck will stop.  Ms. Dunn pointed out the 10’ 
buffer can’t be complied with as the site only has 6’.  The colorized, enhanced site plan was marked Exhibit 
A-1.  The Goddard School is to the east and adjacent to the driveway for this site.  They intend to comply 
with the fire comments, but need waivers from buffer requirements.  All drainage and traffic comments 
were agreed to.  The applicant asked for relief from fencing the trash enclosure, as no trash is generated 
with this business.  Mr. Kahn stated any cartons delivered are flattened and taken to recycling. He said 
there is very little trash and they don’t use or need dumpsters.  Chairman Kelly asked what the warehouse 
is used for.  Mr. Kahn stated there are 400-500 items assembled into kits to be used in educational 
programs he conducts as his business.  UPS delivers the items, they unpack the items and make the kits.  
Ms. Dunn asked for the 18’ driveway width to be allowed instead of 24’.  Mr. Yodakis said with the low 
intensity use, he was satisfied with that.  Ms. Furey suggested when the house is demolished, make it 24’.  
Mr. Kahn said nobody would be moving in for at least 15 years.  This is a non-selling area.  Ms. Furey said 
the next applicant would have to improve it, if they need site plan approval.  Mr. Megill suggested if there 
was a new tenant, then the changes would have to be approved.  The Board agreed.  Ms. Dunn stated they 
would provide sidewalks.  Mr. Yodakis confirmed there would be no hazardous materials, and Mr. Kahn 
agreed.  Mr. Yodakis questioned an above ground well;  Ms. Dunn confirmed there is no safety issue.   
 
PUBLIC SESSION OPENED; No one came forward; PUBLIC SESSION CLOSED 

 

Motion to approve by CLUTE/Weinstein, with the stipulation the house would be demolished in 36 

months, and no rentals in that time.    YES:  Clute, Hartman, Falkowitz, Najarian, Sullivan, Weinstein 
and Kelly. 
 

9. APPLICANT:  JOSE ANGELES (VARIANCE #2530) 

BLOCK:  66.09  LOT:  13.03  ZONE:  R-3 

LOCATION:  6 MEADOW RUN COURT 

 

Jose Angeles sworn.  He seeks a variance for a home occupation for a painting business, and variances to 
allow 3 commercial vans to be parked on the property.  He states he now has a 1,200 square foot garage to  
park the vans.  He has a home office for the business and says he leaves a 7 a.m. and returns between 5-6 
p.m.  He said the paint is delivered from the store to the various jobsites.  Mr. Najarian pointed out that 
while paint is delivered to the jobs, the leftover paint comes back to the house in the vans and is stored in 
the garage, creating environmental issues.  Mr. Angeles said at first he had deliveries to the home, but no 
more.  Ms. Furey asked why variances are needed.  Mr. Megill clarified under Ordinance 109-112 for  



Page 7– Zoning Board Minutes of March 1, 2006 (cont’d) 

 
Home Occupations, no outside employees are allowed, only residents of the home, so he needs a variance 
for the employees.  He also needs a variance for the parking of the vans with the logo (signage).  Mr. 
Megill was told the vans were parked outside.  Mr. Megill also needed clarification about the painting 
supplies.  That is why the applicant is before this Board tonight.  Mr. Kelly said when he visited the site, he 
saw no vans outside.  He asked where the workers’ cars are?  Mr. Angeles said his father and son live with 
him, plus he has subcontractors.   He used to park the vans outside, but built the garage and put up a fence.  
He meets his workers on the job site.  He said the leftover paint is used up the next day.  Mr. Yodakis asked 
about any outside storage.  Mr. Angeles said there are two trailers, one on the job, and a boat on the 
property.  Mr. Megill stated he was told the employees come to the house.  He suggested to the Board to 
have the attorney review Ordinance 109-112 and discuss it at the next meeting.  Mr. Kitrick agreed to 
review the ordinance and determine which Board has jurisdiction.  He said there would be no public input 
at this time.  Ms. Furey asked the applicant to provide a statement of operations.  Mr. Kelly addressed the 
applicant, telling him there is a problem because his testimony changed.  He said he wants a written, 
notarized statement of exactly how the business is run.   
 
Motion to carry to the April 5, 2006 hearing by CLUTE/Maher.  UNANIMOUS AMONG THOSE 
PRESENT. 
 

Motion to adjourn at 11:10 p.m.   Yes by affirmation. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Janice Kisty 
Zoning Board Recording Secretary 


